2005

Wasatch County a body politic of the State of Utah  
v. E. Ray Okelberry, Brian Okelberry, Eric  
Okelberry, Utah Division of Wildlife Resources,  
West Daniels Land Association, and John Does  
1-25 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j). It subsequently assigned the appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, which has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j)

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. **Issue:** May the public lose the right to use a road if the provisions of Utah Code Section 72-3-108 are not met?

**Determinative Law:** Utah Code Section 72-3-108; *Western Kane County Special Service District No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Company*, 744 P.2d 1376, (Utah 1987).

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's interpretation of the law is reviewed for correctness. *Ledfors v. Emery County Sch. Dist.*, 849 P.2d 1162, 1162-63 (Utah 1993).

**Issue Raised:** This issue was raised in Plaintiff's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. (R. at 374)

- B. **Issue:** Can equitable estoppel be asserted against a government entity absent affirmative action on the part of the government entity?

**Determinative Law:** *Anderson v. Public Service Comm'n of Utah*, 839 P.2d 822 (Utah 1992) and *Wall v. Salt Lake City*, 168 p. 766 (Utah 1917).

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's interpretation of the law is reviewed for correctness. *Ledfors v. Emery County Sch. Dist.*, 849 P.2d 1162, 1162-63 (Utah 1993).

**Issue Raised:** This issue was raised in Plaintiffs motion to alter or amend judgment. (R. at 438)

- C. **Issue:** Was there sufficient evidence for the Court to find valuable improvements to the property undertaken in reliance on county's actions to allow equitable estoppel to be asserted against a government entity?

**Determinative Law:** *Western Kane County Special Service District No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Company*, 744 P.2d 1376, (Utah 1987).

**Standard of Review:** To support an insufficiency of the evidence claim on appeal, the one challenging the verdict must marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. So long as some evidence and reasonable inferences support the jury's findings, the Court will not disturb them. *Hatch v. Davis* 102 P.3d 774, 778-779 (Utah App. 2004).

**Issue Raised:** This issue was raised in Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend judgment. (R. at 435)

- D. **Issue:** Did the trial court properly apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel to the facts of the case?

**Determinative Law:** *Western Kane County Special Service District No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Company*, 744 P.2d 1376, (Utah 1987)

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's interpretation of the law is reviewed for correctness. *Ledfors v. Emery County Sch. Dist.*, 849 P.2d 1162, 1162-63 (Utah 1993).

**Issue Raised:** This issue was raised in Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend judgment. (R. at 451)

### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

U.C. A. §72-3-108 -- County roads -- Vacation and narrowing.

(1) A county may, by ordinance, vacate, narrow, or change the name of a county road without petition or after petition by a property owner.

(2) A county may not vacate a county road unless notice of the hearing is:

(a) published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county once a week for four consecutive weeks prior to the hearing; or

(b) posted in three public places for four consecutive weeks prior to the hearing; and

(c) mailed to the department and all owners of property abutting the county road.

(3) The right-of-way and easements, if any, of a property owner and the franchise rights of any public utility may not be impaired by vacating or narrowing a county road.

(4) Except as provided in Section 72-5-305, if a county vacates a county road, the state's right-of-way interest in the county road is also vacated.

U.C.A. §72-5-105 (1) -- Highways, streets, or roads once established continue until abandoned.

(1) All public highways, streets, or roads once established shall continue to be highways, streets, or roads until abandoned or vacated by order of the highway authorities having jurisdiction or by other competent authority.

shall vest in the record owner, with the remainder of the highway, street, or road vested as otherwise provided in this

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Nature of the Proceedings

Plaintiff Wasatch County appeals that part of the Order dated October 22, 2004, in which the court, after finding that Thorton Road, Ridge Line Road, Parker Canyon Road, and Circle Springs Road had been abandoned and dedicated to the public, found that the public was prevented from using those roads based on the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

### II. Course of Proceedings & Disposition in the Trial Court

On August 24, 2001 Wasatch County filed a complaint in the Fourth District Court alleging that certain roads located on Property owned by the Okelberrys, West Daniels Land Association and the Utah Department of Wildlife Resources had become public by operation of law.(R. at 10) Wasatch County reached a settlement with the Utah Department of Wildlife Resources on.(R. at 247) West Daniels Land Association defaulted on a motion for Summary Judgment.(R. at 419) On June 28, 29, and 30, 2003 trial was held between the Okelberry Defendants and Wasatch County. (R. at 357)

The trial court found that of the five roads located on the Okelberry Property, four had been abandoned to the public pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-3-108 . (R. at 425) The Court further found that because the County had waited for 12 years to initiate a lawsuit to open the roads, under the doctrine of equitable estoppel the public was estopped from using the roads. (R. at 423) Plaintiff filed a motion to alter or amend judgment or amend findings of fact and conclusions of law. (R. at 421) The trial court

amended its findings of fact (R. at 489) but denied Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend judgment. (R. at 492)

### III. Statement of Relevant Facts

Defendants are owners of real property located in Wasatch County. (R. at 419) The property is of mountainous terrain. (R. at 419) The property is traversed by several interconnecting dirt roads, some of which provide access to United States Forest land. (R. at 419-419) The public used these roads at will for approximately 30 years. (R. at 413) In 2001, the County filed an action in District Court to enforce the public's rights to use the roads. (R. at 10) The District Court, after a bench trial, found the evidence sufficient to conclude that the roads had become dedicated and abandoned to the public pursuant to state law. (R. at 413) However, after concluding that the roads had become dedicated and abandoned to the public, the District Court then applied the doctrine of equitable estoppel to prevent the public's use of the roads. (R. at 412) The District Court based this application on its factual finding that Defendants began denying the public the use of the roads by locking gates and posting signs starting in around 1989 and Wasatch County had not brought an action to open the roads until 2001. (R. at 413)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

This Court should overturn the District Court's finding that Wasatch County is estopped from defending the public's right to use the roads found to be dedicated to the public. Utah case law has shown a clear pattern to limit the vacation of public roads to a strict following of the provisions in Utah Code § 78-3-108. The Utah Supreme Court

has explicitly stated that it is reluctant to apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel to bypass the legislative provisions with regard to vacation of a public road, and has exhibited that reluctance in many cases. In stating such reluctance, the courts have not completely foreclosed the possibility that other means exist to vacate a public road. However, Plaintiff submits that is a valid extension if not reading of the law to limit any vacation to compliance with the statute. It is undisputed that the requirements of § 78-3-108 were not met in this case.

If, in fact, the doctrine of equitable estoppel with respect to a road vacation survives and may be applied against the government, the evidence presented by the Okelberrys at trial does not satisfy the elements required for estoppel against a government entity. To meet the requirements of equitable estoppel against the government, a party must prove that an authorized government authority made specific written representations, or at least very clear and well-substantiated affirmative acts or representations for a party to rely on. Second, a party must show that it reasonably relied on that representation by either placing extensive, valuable improvement on the road, or making a substantial investment in the land, thereby changing the nature of the use of the land from a road to something completely different. Finally, the party asserting estoppel must demonstrate how it will suffer a grave injury, or manifest in justice based on the fact that either the improvements or the investments made would be completely destroyed if the land were to revert back to a public road.

In the case at bar the trial court found that the County had made no affirmative statements or representations to the Okelberrys. Without such an affirmative representations by the government, equitable estoppel simply cannot be found against the County.

Further, the Okelberrys have presented absolutely no evidence that they relied on anything that the County did or did not do. They have shown no evidence of how they changed their position or made any decisions based on what the county did or did not do.

Finally there was insufficient evidence that the Okelberrys had made valuable improvements on the land constituting the roads or how they would be substantially injured if the roads were reopened to the public. Even under the most liberal definition of “improvement,” the Okelberrys’ actions fall far short of the type of improvements required by the courts. In fact virtually all the alleged improvements made to the roads actually enhanced their use as roads rather than changing the use of the land to something different.

The District Court mainly cited the case of *Premium Oil v. Cedar City*, 187 P.2d 199 (Utah 1947) as the basis for its decision. The County submits that even this case does not support a finding of equitable estoppel. A careful reading of this case supports the above listed elements of estoppel against the government to vacate a County road. However, even if *Premium Oil* does create a separate standard by which such cases may be judged, the Okelberrys have failed to meet that standard as well. *Premium Oil* merely, in dicta, gives the impression that it may be possible to apply estoppel in this type of case

based on inaction by the government, rather than an affirmative representation. While this may or may not be true, *Premium Oil* still requires extensive and valuable improvements that change the nature of the use of the land, and a grave injury that would be suffered when those improvements are destroyed. The Okelberrys have failed to show either.

The idea that inaction by the government may suffice in a claim to vacate a public road, without substantial improvements to the land, has far reaching public policy implications. The Utah legislature has made it very clear that a private citizen may not assert an adverse possession claim against the government. There is simply too much land owned by the government for it to adequately protect the public's interest if, simply by its inaction, it could lose the public's rights. If private citizens are able to rely merely on inaction by the government and their own assumptions, rather than a clear affirmative representation by the government line between valid estoppel case and a common adverse possession claim will be blurred beyond the point of distinction.



## ARGUMENT

- I. THE ONLY METHOD TO ADANDON A PUBLIC ROAD IS BY SATISFYING THE CLEAR AND SPECIFIC PROVISIONS IN UTAH CODE § 72-3-108.

Utah case law shows a clear trend to limit the loss of the public's right to use a public road to strict compliance with the road vacation statute contained in the Utah Code. This statute is found in Utah Code Ann. § 72-3-108 (West 2005) and provides, in pertinent part:

- (1) A county may, by ordinance, vacate, narrow, or change the name of a county road without petition or after petition by a property owner.
- (2) A county may not vacate a county road unless notice of the hearing is:
  - (a) published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county once a week for four consecutive weeks prior to the hearing; or
  - (b) posted in three public places for four consecutive weeks prior to the hearing; and
  - (c) mailed to the department and all owners of property abutting the county road.

This trend was shown in the case of *Clark v. Erekson*, 341 P.2d 424, 425 (Utah 1959). In *Clark*, the Utah Supreme Court held that a road previously abandoned to the public could only be vacated or abandoned upon an order by the county commissioners, or some other agency of competent authority. In *Clark*, like the case at bar, the road had become a public road by use pursuant to state statute. After it had become a public road, the claimed owner of the road had encroached on the road for thirty (30) years by placing a fence, trees, shrubbery, and garage on the land. *Id.* The court ordered the obstructions removed based on the fact that, once abandoned to public use, a road could only be

vacated as allowed by statute, and that the former owner's attempts to convert the land to his own by modifying its use did not change the legal status of the public road. *Id.* This is supported by the legislature's action in passing Utah Code Ann. § 72-5-105 (West 2005) which states, in pertinent part, "[a]ll public highways, streets, or roads once established shall continue to be highways, streets, or roads until abandoned or vacated by order of the highway authorities having jurisdiction or by other competent authority."

Likewise in the case of *Ercanbrack v. Judd*, 524 P.2d 595, 597 (Utah 1974), the Court held that even after the County Commission voted to vacate the road upon a petition by the former owner, a road that had been abandoned to the public remained public because the county had not complied with the explicit statutory requirements to vacate a county road. In that case, the claimed owner had lost the road through continuous use by the public for a period of more than ten (10) years, and later had placed a locked gate on the road. *Id.* at 595. Seven years after placing a locked gate on the road, the claimed owner formally petitioned the county to vacate the road. *Id.* The county denied the petition. Eight years later, the claimed owner once again asked the county to vacate the road, which petition was formally granted by the county. *Id.* Nevertheless, the supreme court held that, despite the county's clear intent to vacate the road, the statute governing such vacation explicitly required notice before such an act could be taken, and hence the land in question was still a public road. *Id.* at 597.

In 1987, in the case of *Western Kane County Special Service Dist. No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Co.*, 744 P.2d 1376, 1378 (Utah 1987) the Supreme Court explicitly stated that it

was “extremely reluctant to apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel against the assertion of rights in a public highway by a government entity,” and that such reluctance was “in harmony with the expressed will of the legislature, which requires that a strict statutory procedure be followed for the vacation of a public road.”

This trend was more recently affirmed in the case of *AWINC v. Simonson*, 112 P.3d 1228, 1231 (Utah App. 2005). At trial in the *AWINC* case, Simonsen presented evidence that he had placed a locked metal gate across the road to block traffic as far back as 1996 or 1997, and had placed no trespassing signs along the road. *Id.* at 1229. The court found that, despite the fact that Simonsen had prevented traffic on the road, it had been abandoned to the public long before his acts to prevent travel, and had not reverted back to his ownership, but rather remained a public road. *Id.* at 1231-32.

In the present case, there was no evidence presented by the Defendants that the County had intended to vacate the roads in question, nor did they demonstrate that the County followed the steps required by U.C.A. § 72-3-108 in order to vacate the roads. In fact, rather than argue that the road had somehow reverted back to their ownership through vacation, the Okelberrys only argument at trial was that the road had never been abandoned to public use. As has been noted above, even with an explicit statement of intent by a County, and a resolution to vacate a county road, such a decision is null if the County has not strictly complied with the entire statute. A review language of the Utah Code and the application of that language by Utah courts shows a clear intent by the legislature to limit the vacation of public roads to certain instances in which the

provisions of the statute are satisfied. Consequently, it is entirely appropriate, indeed a proper extension if not application of the law, for this Court to hold that the only way a public road may be vacated is through strict compliance with § 72-3-108 of the Utah Code, and that Wasatch County in this case had no intention of vacating the roads in question, nor did they satisfy the statutory requirements necessary to do so.

II. IF THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL HAS SURVIVED THE STRICT DEMANDS OF THE UTAH CODE, IT IS ONLY PROPERLY APPLIED AGAINST A GOVERNMENT ENTITY WHEN THERE HAS BEEN A CLEAR WRITTEN REPRESENTATION MADE BY A GOVERNMENT ENTITY.

An estoppel claim generally consists of three elements: 1) a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party inconsistent with a claim later asserted; 2) a reasonable action or inaction by the other party taken or not taken on the basis of the first party's statement, admission, act, or failure to act; and 3) injury to the second party that would result from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such a statement, admission, act, or failure to act. *Nunly v. Westates Casing Services, Inc.*, 989 P.2d 1077 (Utah 1999).

It is also a general rule that estoppel may not be asserted against the government.

*Anderson v. Public Service Comm'n of Utah*, 839 P.2d 822, 827 (Utah 1992) (citing *Utah State Univ. v. Sutro & Co.*, 646 P.2d 715, 718 (Utah 1981); *Weese v. Davis County Comm'n*, 834 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1992)); However, Utah courts have left open a very narrow exception to that rule for the most extreme cases in which it is necessary to prevent "manifest injustice." *Wall v. Salt Lake City*, 168 P. 766, 770 (Utah 1917) (quoting *City of Los Angeles v. Cohn*, 35 P. 1002 (Cal. 1894); *Holland v. Career Services Review*

*Board*, 856 P.2d 678, 682 (Utah App. 1993). Under this narrow exception, when estoppel is asserted against the government a different standard for some of the elements is required. The first prong (Representation Prong) of the test is satisfied only by clear, written representations by an authorized government entity. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 827 (Utah 1992); *Celebrity Club, Inc. v. Utah Liquor Control Comm’n*, 602 P.2d 689, 691 (Utah 1979); *Eldredge v State Retirement Bd.*, 795 P.2d 671, 672-73 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). The third prong (Injury Prong) is satisfied only when the resulting harm can be shown with “such certainty,” and to be of “sufficient gravity” to justify the application of this narrow exception. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 827 (quoting *Utah State Univ. v. Sutro & Co.*, 646 P.2d 715, 720 (Utah 1982)). This section discusses the Representation Prong of the test. The Reliance and Injury Prongs will be discussed below.

A. Utah Case law requires a clear, written representation by an authorized government authority, upon which the adverse party has relied before the doctrine of equitable estoppel may be argued against a government entity.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that the doctrine of equitable estoppel, when argued against a government entity, can only be applied in cases where the government has made a clear written representation to another party, upon which that party has reasonably relied to its detriment. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 827. See *Wall*, 168 P.2d at 766. In 1992, the supreme court stated that the exception to the rule barring estoppel against the government should only be applied if “the facts may be found with such certainty, and the injustice suffered is of sufficient gravity . . .” to demand its application. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 827 (quoting *Utah State Univ. v. Sutro & Co.*, 646 P.2d 715, 720 (Utah 1982)).

The Court went on to point out that there are only a few cases in which the Utah courts have allowed the use of estoppel against a government entity, and those cases have “involved very specific *written* representations by authorized government entities.” *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 827 (emphasis added).

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