2005

Wasatch County v. E. Ray Okelberry, Brian Okelberry, Eric Okelberry, Utah Division of Wildlife Resources, West Daniels Land Association : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Evidence regarding signs: The following individuals testified that they had not seen any no trespassing signs during the relevant period: Dee Sabey, Trial Transcript, June 28 at 47; James Bessendorfer, June 28 at 125; Ed Sabey, Trial Transcript, June 28 at 278; Mark Butters, Trial Transcript at 107.

B. In spite of the above-listed evidence, the trial court's ultimate determination that the roads were continuously used by the public for a period of ten years is incorrect.

As discussed above, the trial court could only conclude that the roads were abandoned to the public under § 72-5-104 if it properly determined that there was clear and convincing evidence that the public had used the roads without interruption from 1960 through 1989. Though the County did present this evidence tending to show that certain members of the public were able to repeatedly trespass on these privately owned roads, that evidence is nevertheless fatally flawed for three different reasons. First, the County has failed to rebut the Okelberrys' supported assertions that they and their agents routinely ejected persons from the roads who did not have permission to be there. Second, the County has also failed to rebut the Okelberrys' supported assertions that there were gates across each of the roads that were kept closed. Third, though there is some dispute about the time periods in which the gates were locked and in which the no trespassing signs were posted, the evidence presented by the Okelberrys regarding the

existence of these two interruptive obstacles was sufficient to defeat any claim of clear and convincing evidence showing abandonment.

1. The Okelberrys presented un rebutted evidence showing that they had expelled persons who did not have permission to use the roads.

First, the County's case was reliant upon the testimony of a series of witnesses who were by their own assertions only part- time, intermittent users of the roads. With slight variations in frequency, the testimony was generally that the roads were used by these witnesses on a limited number of occasions during the summer, and then again during the 2-3 week long hunting season in the fall.

In terms of claimed usage, the notable high point in the County's case was Mark Butters. In spite of the fact that virtually all of the evidence supported the notion that these roads are rough and very difficult to traverse, as well as the fact that the County's other witnesses generally claimed usage rates of no more than 5-6 times during a given summer, Mark Butters nevertheless testified that he uses the Ridge Line and Circle Springs roads approximately 20 times per summer. Assuming *arguendo* that this particular statement was true, and that by the term "summer" Mr. Butters was referring to the months of June, July, and August, it is worth noting that Mr. Butters was still only asserting that he used these roads at a rate of somewhere close to 1½ times per week. The other witnesses, of course, were claiming usage at rates much lower than that.

Given the intermittent nature of these witnesses' claimed usage, it is therefore clear that even the County's most persistent witnesses were by their own terms simply not

in a position to rebut the Okelberrys' insistence that uninvited persons had been asked to leave the roads ever since the Okelberrys purchased the property. Thus, when Ray Okelberry testified that he and his father were granting permission to users as far back as 1957, there was no contrary evidence that could disprove this assertion. When Brian Okelberry testified that he and his family had routinely limited access to the roads by granting or withdrawing permission, there was no contrary evidence that could disprove this assertion. When Bruce Huvard testified that, at the Okelberrys' request, he had been exercising his authority since 1966 to kick people off the roads if he came upon them, there was no contrary evidence that could disprove this assertion. When Jeff Jefferson testified that, at least since 1977, he and the other Okelberry employees had been instructed to approach non-permissive users and ask them to leave, there was no contrary evidence that could disprove this assertion. When Mel Price, Glenn Shepherd, and Shane Ford all testified that they and other persons they knew had sought for and received permission to use these roads, this testimony wholly comported with the testimony of the Okelberrys and their agents, and there was no contrary evidence that could disprove the contention that this was part of a repeated pattern of conduct since 1957.

Because § 72-5-104 requires clear and convincing evidence of uninterrupted use, the testimony of these witnesses regarding the repeated expulsions of non-permissive users should have been deemed conclusive as to the roads that were under the Okelberrys' control. Other than showing that this particular collection of admittedly intermittent, admittedly spasmodic users had each managed to use these rural roads on occasion

without being stopped, the County simply presented no other evidence that contradicted the claim that other persons were in fact being expelled from the property, or that instead showed that the Okelberrys and their witnesses were lying when they testified otherwise. Given the importance placed upon this very same type of behavior in Draper City, the trial court in this case therefore should have concluded that the evidence of uninterrupted use was not clear and convincing on this basis alone. On the basis of this factor alone, the trial court can and should be overturned.

2. The Okelberrys presented un rebutted evidence showing that they had controlled access to the roads through gates.

Second, the County's own witnesses repeatedly acknowledged that there have always been gates across these roads during the relevant period.¹⁷ This question of whether a closed gate must be locked in order to qualify as an interruptive act for purposes of § 72-5-104 has not been definitively addressed by a Utah appellate court.¹⁸ In this case, the trial court specifically noted that the gates were often closed, but then concluded that a closed yet unlocked gate was not interruptive for purposes of § 72-5-104. See Trial Transcript, June 30 at 154-55; R. at 415, ¶¶3-4. That conclusion should be rejected as a matter of law.

¹⁷There was also evidence in this case indicating that those gates were periodically locked. The legal significance of those locks will be discussed in the next section.

¹⁸This issue appears to have been raised in Chapman v. Uintah County, 2003 UT App 383, 81 P.3d 761, but was not ultimately reached by the panel. See id. at ¶¶24-26.

As discussed above, the question under the continuous use requirement is whether the public's right to use the road was interrupted or "limited." Heber City, 942 P.2d at 311 n.9. Though some cases have considered the impact of locked gates on the continuous use inquiry, see, e.g., Campbell, 962 P.2d at 809, it is significant that a number of the cases have also considered the presence of gates as an interruptive force without deeming it necessary to even note whether those gates were locked. See, e.g., Draper City, 888 P.2d at 1100; AWINC Corp., 2005 UT App 168 at ¶3, 11-12; Kohler, 916 P.2d at 913.

There are strong policy reasons for allowing a gate to act as an interruptive force, even in the absence of any evidence showing that that gate was locked. As indicated above, the Utah courts have long sought to achieve a balance between the competing interests that are at work in the § 72-5-104 cases. On the one hand, the government clearly has an interest in preserving the public's right to use roads that have been left to the public for a lengthy period of time. It is instructive in this regard that the statute itself only calls for public dedication where the landowners have "abandoned" the road. See Utah Code Ann. § 72-5-104(1). In a very real sense, the prevailing logic here is one of reliance. If an owner has completely "abandoned" a particular road for such a lengthy period of time, it stands to reason that the public will have developed collective patterns of travel, commerce, and development during that time that would track and be reliant upon the existence of this "public thoroughfare." This is exactly what happened, for example, in the Heber City case. In that case, the road in question had continuously been

used by the public from 1947 until 1989. 942 P.2d at 313. Not only did a “number of businesses” spring up alongside the road, but the road also became a primary means of reaching the airport. Id. at 312. In such circumstances, it would indeed be unjust to allow a long absent landowner to suddenly emerge, claim ownership, and restrict the public’s right to use a road that had never before been treated as anything but public.

On the other hand, where the landowner has taken some recognizable steps to assert some control over the roads, the public will be under no such illusions. For example, in a case involving rural roads that are crossed by unlocked gates, a member of the public who wished to use the roads would still have to physically stop their car, get out, open the gate, drive through the gate, and then get out again to close the gate before proceeding onward. This is precisely what happened here, for example, with many of the County’s own witnesses testifying that the gates were always kept closed as a means of keeping the Okelberrys’ livestock within the property. See, e.g., Trial Transcript, June 28 at 40 (testimony of Dee Sabey); Trial Transcript, June 28 at 314 (testimony of Dick Baum); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 119, 123 (testimony of Mark Butters). As such, the members of the public who used these roads were always presented with a reminder upon both ingress and egress that these roads belonged to some other party, and that use of these roads was solely at the pleasure of that owner.

As indicated above, the law does not lightly allow the public takeover of a private property owner’s land. The statute at issue in this case does not require a landowner to come up with an expensive, elaborate, or foolproof system for keeping out all trespassers.

Instead, the statute allows the property owner to preserve his or her rights by simply creating some interruptive obstacle that limits the public's access to the private roads. Given the large number of rural ranches and farms in this state that are separated from the highways by nothing more than a wire fence or gate, this Court should reject the trial court's decision to read into the statute a heretofore non-existent requirement that all of those gates and fences actually be locked. Instead, this Court should affirm the obvious, common-sense reading of the statute, thereby holding that a landowner who has preserved and maintained a gate or fence across his or her road cannot be said to have "abandoned" that road under § 72-5-104. For this reason, this Court can and should conclude that there was not clear and convincing evidence showing that the roads involved in this appeal were ever abandoned to the public.

3. The quantum of evidence regarding locks and signs contradicts the trial court's finding of clear and convincing evidence.

Third, the Okelberrys presented a sufficient quantum of evidence at trial to establish that there had been no trespassing signs alongside the roads. As discussed above, many of the witnesses discussed the presence of signs alongside this road system in general terms. See Trial Transcript, June 30 at 137 (testimony of Ray Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 257-58, 268-69 (testimony of Bruce Huvard); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 160 (testimony of Mel Price); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 25 (testimony of Brian Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 135 (testimony of Jeff Jefferson). Other witnesses were more specific as to the particular signs they saw upon particular roads.

With respect to Parker Canyon, both Mel Price and Glen Shepher testified that they had in fact seen no trespassing signs on that road. See Trial Transcript, June 29 at 161; Trial Transcript, June 29 at 212. With respect to Thornton Hollow, Mark Butters, testifying for the County, testified that he had seen no trespassing signs as well. Trial Transcript, June 29 at 106. Similar testimony was elicited with respect to Circle Springs. Trial Transcript, June 29 at 161 (testimony of Mel Price).

It is true that the County presented a number of witnesses who denied having seen such signs. In an ordinary circumstance, the presentation of such conflicting testimony would allow the trial court to make a determination that would be granted deference by the appellate court. In this circumstance, however, the inquiry is whether the trial court's conclusion that the evidence regarding the signs had not been posted was "clear and convincing." In light of the conflicting evidence regarding this issue, this Court should accordingly conclude that the evidence was sufficient to establish the existence of these no trespassing signs, and that those signs then showed there to have been an interruption in the public's right to continuously use the roads as a public thoroughfare.

As for the question of whether the gates were locked, the evidence that was presented at trial indicated that the Okelberrys had in fact locked the gates that controlled access to their roads. Ray Okelberry, for example, specifically testified that he had begun locking the exterior gates since the late 1950s, and that he had also made a habit of locking the gates every year while moving his own sheep. Trial Transcript, June 30 at

138-39. His assertion that the gates were at least periodically locked was also supported by Mel Price. Trial Transcript, June 29 at 160, 170.

It is true that many of the County's witnesses testified that they had not encountered locks on the gates until the late 1980s. This discrepancy is, however, explainable on at least two levels. First, the testimony at trial was that the gates and the locks were repeatedly torn down through the years by trespassers and hunters. For example, Jeff Jefferson, the longtime Okelberry employee, testified that one wire gate had ultimately been replaced by an iron gate "because every week—you could put up the gate and the next day it would be ripped out." Trial Transcript, June 29 at 134; accord Trial Transcript, June 29 at 186-87, 197-98 (testimony of Lee Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 137-39 (testimony of Ray Okelberry). Second, as discussed above, none of the witnesses who testified on behalf of the County were anything but sporadic users of the roads. According to his testimony, Ray Okelberry testified that he was at the very least locking the gates for a short period every summer while he moved his sheep. Depending on the vagaries of chance and timing, such short term, periodic locking would not necessarily have impacted the County's collection of admittedly intermittent witnesses.

Regardless, the trial court ultimately concluded that the Okelberrys had been locking the gates at least on a periodic basis prior to 1989. See Supplemental Findings, R. at 488, ¶5 ("At various times in the past, the Okelberrys and their employees have locked these gates. Beginning in the 1990s, the Okelberrys began locking these gates on a more permanent basis"). This finding has not been challenged on appeal by the County,

and must therefore be accepted as true by this Court. As such, the only way that the trial court's ultimate determination is sustainable is if this Court determines that periodic locking of gates is not sufficient to cut off § 72-5-104's continuous use requirement. Such a conclusion, however, would clearly contradict both the statute and the cases.

In short, a determination that a landowner has abandoned his or her road to the public is only permissible where there is clear and convincing evidence that *any* member of the public was able to use the road whenever that member so desired. All that the County was able to show in this case, however, was that *certain* members of the public had been able to use the roads during their own periodic forays into the area. That is not enough.

The trial court erred because it failed to properly recognize the legal impact of the Okelberry's evidence. Specifically, the unrebutted evidence showing that the Okelberrys had expelled non-permissive users of the roads was enough to defeat the County's claim of abandonment. The unrebutted evidence showing that the public had had to cross through the gates when crossing onto these roads was likewise enough to defeat the claim of abandonment. Finally, the evidence showing both a periodic locking of the gates and the presence of no trespassing signs should at the very least have prevented the trial court from concluding that there was clear and convincing evidence of non-interruption.

For these reasons, the trial court's ultimate determination that these roads have been abandoned to the public should therefore be overturned.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE COUNTY SHOULD BE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING CONTROL OVER THE ROADS IN QUESTION.

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